No. 44952-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

ARNOLD BRIONES FLORES,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-03352-0 The Honorable John McCarthy, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State failed to meet its constitutional burden of proving all of the elements of first degree kidnapping.
- 2. The State failed to meet its constitutional burden of proving all of the elements of unlawful imprisonment.
- 3. The State failed to meet its constitutional burden of proving that Arnold Flores was armed with a deadly weapon during the commission of the kidnapping offense.
- 4. The trial court properly granted motions to dismiss various unlawful imprisonment counts but failed to set forth its ruling in a written order or in the Judgment and Sentence.
- 5. The trial court erred when it included a finding in the Judgment & Sentence that the offenses were committed against a minor.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did the State fail to prove the elements of kidnapping beyond a reasonable doubt when there is no evidence that Arnold Flores used or threatened the use of deadly force when he "abducted" Yonhee Flores? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. Did the State fail to prove the elements of unlawful imprisonment beyond a reasonable doubt when Arnold Flores did not specifically direct employees and customers of the bank to remain inside the bank when he argued with his wife while holding a BB gun, and where there is no evidence that he knew his actions would cause employees or customers to remain in the bank? (Assignment of Error 2)
- 3. Did the State fail to prove the elements of unlawful imprisonment beyond a reasonable doubt in count 9 when the evidence showed that a means of escape existed for the individual charged in that count? (Assignment of Error 2)
- 4. Where the unlawful imprisonment statute requires proof that a defendant "knowingly restrain" an individual, can the State

convict a defendant without any proof that the defendant knew the particular individual was present during the offense? (Assignment of Error 2)

- 5. Did the State fail to prove a nexus between the box cutter and the kidnapping offense, for the purpose of a special deadly weapon finding, where the evidence showed that Arnold Flores did not carry the box cutter or threaten to use the box cutter during the kidnapping offense, and where the evidence shows that his intent changed from using the box cutter to assault his wife to using a BB gun to entice responding police officers into shooting and killing him? (Assignment of Error 3).
- Should a written order be entered or the Judgment and Sentence be corrected to reflect the trial court's dismissal of four counts of unlawful imprisonment? (Assignment of Error 4).
- 7. Should the Judgment and Sentence be corrected to remove a finding that the victim was a minor, where no such finding was made and the evidence does not support the finding? (Assignment of Error 5)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Arnold Briones Flores by Amended Information with: second degree assault (count 1, RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c)) and first degree kidnapping (count 2, RCW 9A.40.021(1)(a)(d)), both committed against his wife, Yonhee Flores.¹ (CP 18-20) The State alleged several aggravating sentencing factors: including that Arnold was armed with a deadly

¹ Because they share a last name, Arnold Flores and Yonhee Flores will be referred to by their first names throughout the brief.

weapon (a box cutter) during the commission of the offenses and that the offenses involved domestic violence. (CP 18-20)

The State also charged Arnold with 10 counts of unlawful imprisonment against 10 different individuals who were present inside the bank where the charged incident took place (counts 3 thru 12, RCW 9A.40.040). (CP20-26) The State alleged that Arnold was also armed with a deadly weapon (the box cutter) when he committed these offenses. (CP 20-26)

After the State rested its case-in-chief, the trial court granted the defense motion to dismiss the unlawful imprisonment charges alleged in counts 5 (David Ohls), 8 (Alison Odziemek), 10 (Albert Vital) and 11 (Jyll Berg). (TRP 576-77, 580-83, 596-607, 614; CP 44-48)² The court denied the defense motion to dismiss the kidnapping charge alleged in count 2 and the unlawful imprisonment charges alleged in counts 3 (Stephanie Crockett), 4 (Brielle Eldridge), 6 (Deanna Erwin), 7 (Shawna Loomis), 9 (Kelly Flynn), and 12 (Alyssa Dominguez Luther). (TRP 580-83, 596, 614; CP 44-48) The court also dismissed the deadly weapon allegations for all of the unlawful imprisonment counts. (TRP 615)

 $^{^2}$ The transcripts containing the pretrial and trial proceedings, labeled Volumes 1 thru 7, will be referred to as "TRP". The transcript containing the sentencing proceeding will be referred to as "SRP".

The jury found Arnold guilty of all the remaining charges, and found that he was armed with a deadly weapon when he committed the assault and kidnapping offenses. (TRP 710-12; CP 98-110) The trial court denied Arnold's assertion that the assault and kidnapping offenses were the same criminal conduct. (CP 111-15; SRP 12) The court then imposed a standard range sentence totaling 211 months (concurrent sentences totaling 175 months, plus consecutive 24 and 12 month deadly weapon enhancements). (CP 139; SRP 26-27) This appeal timely follows. (CP 150)

B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

Arnold and Yonhee Flores were married in 1985 and had two children together. (TRP 105-06) In the summer of 2012, Arnold and Yonhee were experiencing marital difficulties, and were discussing getting a divorce. (TRP 107-08, 109) Arnold had lost his job, and he also believed that Yonhee was having an affair. (TRP 108, 109) When Yonhee stayed with her cousin for a short time, Arnold called her on the telephone almost daily. (TRP 108) According to Yonhee, he seemed angry about the state of their relationship, and about bills that he believed she should help pay. (TRP 109, 112-13)

On August 25, 2012, Arnold contacted Yonhee and asked her to meet him at their bank, the Washington State Employee's Credit

Union (WSECU) in Lakewood, so that they could discuss an issue relating to their car loan and registration. (TRP 114, 115) Yonhee arrived around 11:30 that morning, approached WSECU employee Kelly Flynn and explained the issue to her. (TRP 115, 419, 420) As Flynn went to investigate the matter, Arnold arrived and approached Yonhee. (RP 115, 119-20) Flynn returned and explained the status of the loan to Arnold and Yonhee, then turned and began to walk away. (TRP 120, 422-23)

Arnold then charged towards Yonhee and pushed her against the wall, pinning her with his forearm. (TRP 120-21, 375) Arnold then placed a box cutter against Yonhee's neck and cut her. (TRP 121-23) Yonhee could not remember what he said, but testified that he looked angry and she felt frightened. (TRP 122, 124) She and Arnold struggled, but Arnold was able to kept ahold of her. (TRP 125)

Then Yonhee saw that Arnold was now holding what appeared to be a gun.³ (TRP 126) For approximately 30 minutes, Arnold moved around the lobby of the bank while he continued to hold onto Yonhee's arm, and demanded that Yonhee "tell [him] the

³ The item in Arnold's hand was actually a BB gun. (TRP 183)

truth." (TRP 127, 128-29) Based on Arnold's other statements and behavior, Yonhee realized that Arnold did not want to kill her, but instead wanted to be shot by responding police officers. (TRP 127, 129, 144-45) Yonhee also testified that she did not see anyone in the bank during this time. (TRP 129)

As Flynn walked away after her conversation with Arnold and Yonhee, she heard another employee say that Arnold had a gun. (TRP 423-24) She walked into the manager's office and called 911. (TRP 424) She stayed hidden in the back area of the bank during the incident because she did not want to draw attention to herself. (TRP 426, 427)

WSECU customer Anne Jones was standing nearby in the lobby, and saw Arnold lunge towards Yonhee and knock her down. (TRP 192-93) She saw Arnold put his hand into his pocket and pull out a gun. (TRP 193) Arnold was angry and yelling for someone to call the police. (TRP 194) Arnold held the gun at his side, and did not point it at anyone. (TRP 194, 195, 199) Jones and several other employees or customers exited the bank. (TRP 196) Jones did not hear Arnold try to stop anyone from leaving. (TRP 199)

WSECU employee Alyssa Dominguez Luther was assisting a customer near the teller stations, and saw Arnold push Yonhee

against the window. (TRP 373, 374-75) She testified that she saw Arnold holding a gun, and that he gestured towards her and said to "call the cops." (TRP 375, 377) Luther ran behind the teller stations, hid under a desk, and called 911. (TRP 375, 377-78)

Luther testified that this was clearly a domestic violence incident between Arnold and Yonhee, and Arnold never showed any interest in the bank's money or anyone other than Yonhee. (TRP 389) But Luther was afraid to leave the bank because she did not feel she could do so without drawing Arnold's attention and wondered whether he would shoot her. (TRP 380-81, 391)

WSECU employee Ramona Hope Figueroa was standing next to Luther, and also saw Arnold holding onto Yonhee. (TRP 395, 399) Figueroa told Arnold to leave Yonhee alone, then Arnold pulled out a gun. (TRP 400) Figueroa then told Arnold to leave, but Arnold told her to call the police. (TRP 401)

Figueroa walked away from Arnold, and began telling nearby customers and employees to get out of the bank. (TRP 401) Figueroa then walked into the break room, and notified her fellow employees Alison Odziemek and Albert Vital, who were unaware of what was going on in the lobby. (TRP 402, 412, 528, 529) Odziemek and Vital remained in the break room, and never saw Arnold. (TRP

412, 531-32, 537)

Figueroa also stayed in the break room for the duration of the incident, because she did not know what Arnold was planning to do and thought it best to wait quietly out of sight. (TRP 405-06) As she waited, Figueroa could hear Arnold yelling "Why are you doing this to me? You are going to watch me die today." (TRP 404) It seemed to Figueroa that Arnold's only concern was Yonhee. (TRP 408)

WSECU employee Deanna Erwin was assisting a customer at her teller station when she heard the commotion. (TRP 481, 482) She saw Arnold push Yonhee against the wall, and saw something with a black handle in Arnold's hand. (TRP 482, 483) She told her customer to get out of the bank, then hid under a desk. (TRP 484, 485) The customer left the bank without incident, and Arnold did not try to contact or stop her. (TRP 491-92)

Erwin did not believe that Arnold knew she was there. (TRP 488-89) Erwin could hear Arnold telling Yonhee, "You don't love me anymore. Why did you do this?" (TRP 487) She realized the incident had nothing to do with the bank, but she was still fearful. (TRP 487) Erwin testified that Arnold did not seem to notice anyone else in the bank, and that he seemed oblivious to everyone except Yonhee. (TRP 490) Erwin also heard Arnold tell Yonhee several

times that she should leave. (TRP 493)

WSECU branch manager, Jyll Berg, was in her office, when she heard a commotion. (TRP 332, 333) She began to walk to the lobby, when another employee walked towards her and told her a man in the lobby had a gun. (TRP333-34) Berg then hid in the back area of the bank, where she remained during the incident because she did not feel safe exposing herself. (TRP 334, 341, 342, 343, 346)

Berg heard Arnold say that he was going to kill himself, and it seemed to her that Arnold and Yonhee were focused only on each other. (TRP 342, 348) She only caught a brief glimpse of Arnold and Yonhee, and does not know whether they saw her. (TRP 334, 348)

WSECU employee Shawna Loomis was at her desk in her cubicle near the front door, when she heard yelling. (TRP 3356, 357) She stood up and started to walk towards the lobby so that she could see what was going on, when Figueroa walked towards her and told her to call 911. (TRP 357) She returned to her cubicle and called 911, then hid under a desk with two customers. (TRP 358, 361, 362) Loomis was afraid to leave the bank because she did not know what Arnold might do if he saw her, so she stayed hidden. (TRP 363)

During the incident, Loomis could hear Arnold yelling, "Why are you doing this? Don't you love me anymore?" (TRP 358) She later heard Arnold tell Yonhee that she should go out the doors, then it will "all be over" and she "won't see him again." (TRP 364) Loomis never interacted with Arnold, and Arnold never directed her to do anything. (TRP 365, 367) Arnold never turned his focus from Yonhee to anyone else in the bank. (TRP 369)

WSECU employee David Ohls was assisting customers at his cubicle desk when the incident began. (TRP 468, 496) Since he could not see Arnold, Ohls assumed that Arnold could not see him either. So he decided to exit through the back door of the bank. He walked outside, and let several waiting police officers in through the back door. (TRP 475) He never heard Arnold tell anyone to stay inside, and it seemed that Arnold was completely focused on Yonhee. (TRP 477)

Ohls was assisting customer Stephanie Crockett and her daughter, Brielle Eldridge, when the incident began. (TRP 495, 496, 550) After Ohls left, Crockett and Eldridge considered leaving too, but Loomis told them to get down. (TRP 498, 553, 554) Crockett and Eldridge hid under the desk. (TRP 499, 554, 555) They could not see what was going on, but could hear Arnold tell Yonhee that

he was going to die and it was her fault. (TRP 501-03, 561) They heard Arnold tell Yonhee to run out the door, but Yonhee said no. (TRP 502-03, 542-43, 561)

Crockett and Eldridge never saw Arnold, and did not believe that he saw them. (TRP 506, 564) Arnold never directed them to do anything and they never heard him tell anyone to stay in the bank. (TRP 564) But they were afraid and did not know what he would do if he saw them, so they decided to stay hidden for the duration of the incident. (TRP 505-06, 557-58)

Eventually, Arnold moved towards the exit, then told Yonhee that he would open the door and she should run outside. (TRP 129, 131-32) According to Yonhee, Arnold opened the door, she ran outside, and as she ran she heard gunshots.⁴ (TRP 132)

Lakewood Police Officer Vince Sivankeo encountered Ohls as he exited the bank through the back door. (TRP 161, 162) Officer Sivankeo entered the bank but stayed out of sight, and tried to gather information about the incident to relay to the other responding officers. (TRP 164, 167-68) He could hear Arnold and Yonhee arguing, and heard Arnold say, "They are going to have to kill me."

⁴ A video recording of the incident shows that Yonhee was still inside the bank's vestibule when the shots were fired. (TRP 312; Exh. P-96A)

(TRP 166) He could see Arnold and Yonhee moving around near the front doors of the bank, and did not see them go into any other areas. (TRP 179) It also seemed to Officer Sivankeo that Arnold did not talk to or focus on any of the customers or employees in the bank. (TRP 179)

Lakewood Police Officer Richard Barnard happened to be driving through the parking lot of WSECU at the moment the incident began. (TRP 205) He saw several people exiting the bank through the main entrance, and they flagged him down and told him that a man with a gun was inside the bank. (TRP205, 206, 207)

SWAT team members who eventually assembled outside saw Arnold and Yonhee standing together in the bank's vestibule. (TRP 246, 437-38, 456) They appeared to be having a discussion, and from Arnold's body language he seemed to be distressed by what Yonhee was saying. (TRP 457) Arnold had ahold of Yonhee's arm or hand most of the time, but a few times he let go and Yonhee reached out and took his hand. (TRP 316, 439, 457, 458)

When it appeared that Arnold began to lift the gun towards Yonhee, several officers fired and shot Arnold.⁵ (TRP 169, 219, 249,

 $^{^{\}rm 5}$ However, another officer testified that Arnold never pointed the BB gun at Yonhee. (TRP 439)

458) Officers then took Arnold into custody. (TRP 169)

Arnold was later interviewed at the hospital. (TRP 218) He had been frustrated that Yonhee was not talking to him, and believed that meeting at the bank was the only way to get her to talk. (TRP 223, 224) He told investigators that he did not want to hurt anyone, but rather he wanted to die and wanted the police to kill him. (TRP 223, 225, 231) He said he brought the BB gun so that the police would shoot him. (TRP 223, 226) He said he knew other people were in the bank and that they would be scared, and was sorry for that. (TRP 227, 228, 230)

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

A. THE STATE FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE THE ELEMENTS OF THE CRIMES OF KIDNAPPING AND UNLAWFUL IMPRISONMENT, OR THE DEADLY WEAPON FINDING FOR COUNT 2 (KIDNAPPING).

"Due process requires that the State provide sufficient evidence to prove each element of its criminal case beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>City of Tacoma v. Luvene</u>, 118 Wn.2d 826, 849, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992) (citing <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." <u>Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

The reviewing court should reverse a conviction and dismiss the prosecution for insufficient evidence where no rational trier of fact could find that all elements of the crime were proven beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d 97, 103, 954 P.2d 900 (1988); <u>State v. Hardesty</u>, 129 Wn.2d 303, 309, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996).

1. <u>The State failed to prove the elements of kidnapping</u> <u>because there is no evidence that Arnold "abducted"</u> <u>Yonhee by use or threatened use of deadly force.</u>

The State charged Arnold in count two with first degree kidnapping pursuant to RCW 9A.40.020(1)(a) and (d). Under those sections, a person is guilty of kidnapping in the first degree if he or she "intentionally abducts another person with intent . . . [t]o hold him or her for ransom or reward, or as a shield or hostage; or . . . [t]o inflict extreme mental distress[.]" RCW 9A.40.020(1)(a)(d). The court instructed the jury on the definition of "abduct" found in RCW 9A.40.010(1)(b): "to restrain a person by . . . using or threatening to use deadly force." (CP 70)

The evidence shows that Arnold assaulted Yonhee with the box cutter, then dropped the box cutter and pulled out a BB gun.⁶ (TRP 121-22, 124-26) He then held on to Yonhee's arm as they argued and moved around the lobby of the bank. (TRP 127-29) Yonhee testified she did not believe that Arnold wanted to kill her, but she realized instead that he wanted the police officers to kill him. (TRP 144-45) Other witnesses testified that Arnold never pointed the BB gun at anyone, including Yonhee, and none of the witnesses testified that they heard Arnold make any verbal threats to hurt Yonhee. (TRP 195, 199, 407, 439) And eventually, Arnold was heard repeatedly telling Yonhee to go outside, but she refused to leave him. (TRP 131-32, 364, 367, 493, 502-04, 507, 542-43, 561, 567)

There is simply no evidence that, during the time that Arnold restrained Yonhee, he ever used or threatened to use deadly force against her, and indeed she did not believe he intended to do so. The State failed to prove that Arnold "abducted" Yonhee, and therefore failed to prove an essential element of first degree kidnapping. This conviction must be reversed and dismissed.

⁶ According to the prosecutor, the assault was completed "in moments" when Arnold cut Yonhee with the box cutter, then the kidnapping began and lasted the remaining 30 or so minutes. (TRP 702)

2. <u>The State failed to prove the elements of unlawful</u> imprisonment because there is no evidence that Arnold <u>"knowingly" restrained employees and customers of</u> the bank.

A person is guilty of unlawful imprisonment if he or she knowingly restrains another person. RCW 9A.40.040. To "restrain" means:

to restrict a person's movements without consent and without legal authority in a manner which interferes substantially with his liberty. Restraint is "without consent" if it is accomplished by (a) physical force, intimidation, or deception....

RCW 9A.40.010(1).

Unlawful imprisonment requires proof that the accused acted knowingly. <u>State v. Warfield</u>, 103 Wn. App. 152, 157, 5 P.3d 1280 (2000). Thus, [the defendant] must have been aware that he was restraining his victim, [and] that the restraint was unlawful[.]'" <u>Warfield</u>, 103 Wn. App. at 159, 5 P.3d 1280 (2000) (quoting 2 AMERICAN LAW INSTITUTE, MODEL PENAL CODE AND COMMENTARIES, § 212.2, at 242 (1980), which contains statutory language similar to that contained in Washington's unlawful imprisonment statute).

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