# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

### ARNOLD BRIONES FLORES, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable John McCarthy

No. 12-1-03352-0

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By Kimberley DeMarco Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 39218

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

## **

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

#### C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVINCE A RATIONAL FACT FINDER THAT DEFENDANT WAS GUILTY OF KIDNAPPING AND UNLAWFUL IMPRISIONMENT AND THAT DEFENDANT WAS ARMED WITH A DEADLY WEAPON DURING THE KIDNAPPING.

Due process requires that the State bear the burden of proving each and every element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 488, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983); *see also Seattle v. Gellein*, 112 Wn.2d 58, 61, 768 P.2d 470 (1989); *State v. Mabry*, 51 Wn. App. 24, 25, 751 P.2d 882 (1988). The applicable standard of review is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Joy*, 121 Wn.2d 333, 338, 851 P.2d 654 (1993). Also, a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and any reasonable inferences from it. *State v. Barrington*, 52 Wn. App. 478, 484, 761 P.2d 632 (1987), *review denied*, 111 Wn.2d 1033 (1988) (*citing State v. Holbrook*, 66 Wn.2d 278, 401 P.2d 971 (1965); *State v. Turner*, 29 Wn. App. 282, 290, 627 P.2d 1323 (1981)). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly

-8 - Flores brief2.doc

against the defendant. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

Circumstantial and direct evidence are considered equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). In considering this evidence, "[c]redibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed upon appeal." *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990) (*citing State v. Casbeer*, 48 Wn. App. 539, 542, 740 P.2d 335, *review denied*, 109 Wn.2d 1008 (1987)).

The written record of a proceeding is an inadequate basis on which to decide issues based on witness credibility. The differences in the testimony of witnesses create the need for such credibility determinations; these should be made by the trier of fact, who is best able to observe the witnesses and evaluate their testimony as it is given. On this issue, the Supreme Court of Washington said:

great deference . . . is to be given the trial court's factual findings. It, alone, has had the opportunity to view the witness' demeanor and to judge his veracity.

State v. Cord, 103 Wn.2d 361, 367, 693 P.2d 81 (1985) (citations omitted). Therefore, when the State has produced evidence of all the elements of a crime, the decision of the trier of fact should be upheld.

Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal. *State v. Ross*, 106 Wn. App. 876, 880, 26 P.3d 298 (2001), *review denied*, 145 Wn.2d 1016, 41 P.3d 483 (2002).

a. The State presented sufficient evidence to convince a rational fact finder that defendant was guilty of kidnapping in the first degree.

To convict defendant of kidnapping in the first degree, the State was required to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt:

- 1) That on or about August 25, 2012, the defendant intentionally abducted Yonhee Flores,
- That the defendant abducted that person with intenta) to hold the person as a shield or hostage, orb) to inflict extreme mental distress on that person; and
- That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington. CP 55-88 (Jury Instruction 14); RCW 9A.40.020. "Abduct" means to restrain a person by using or threatening to use deadly force. CP 55-88 (Jury Instruction 13). "Restraint" or "restrain" means to restrict another person's movements without consent and without legal authority in a manner that interferes substantially with that person's liberty. CP 55-88 (Jury Instruction 13). A threat to use deadly force which is disbelieved by the intended victim is still a threat within the meaning of RCW 9A.40.020. *State v. Majors*, 82 Wn. App. 843, 847, 919 P.2d 1258 (1996).

Here, elements one and three are not in dispute. Defendant claims that there is no evidence that defendant abducted Ms. Flores because there was no threat to use deadly force against her. Appellant's Brief at 15. However, during the course of the kidnapping, defendant had had ready access to the box cutter even after he dropped it onto a nearby chair, he

choked Ms. Flores, and he displayed an exact replica of a functional firearm. RP 123-24, 125, 126-27, 291, 294, 296. The jury could reasonably infer that defendant restrained Ms. Flores by threatening to use deadly force.

Moreover, defendant's argument that defendant did not threaten Ms. Flores with deadly force because she did not believe he intended to kill her is not only irrelevant, but misconstrues the evidence. It is irrelevant because the victim need not believe the threat. It misconstrues the evidence because, while Ms. Flores eventually concluded that defendant did not want to kill her, at the beginning of the incident she testified that she was in shock and had never seen such an "evil" look on defendant's face before. RP 122, 144. She understood that defendant's goal was suicide only when he told her he was going to see her dead father. RP 147. It was not until mid-way through the incident that she understood that defendant was not going to kill her. RP 149. Hence, it was reasonable to infer that, when defendant abducted her, Ms. Flores did not know that defendant was not going to kill her.

b. The State presented sufficient evidence to convince a rational fact finder that defendant was guilty of unlawful imprisonment where he knowingly restrained people within the bank.

A person is guilty of unlawful imprisonment if he or she knowingly restrains another person. RCW 9A.40.040(1). To convict defendant of unlawful imprisonment, the State was required to prove:

- 1) That on or about August 25, 2012, the defendant restrained the movements of [victim] in a manner that substantially interfered with her liberty;
- 2) That such restraint wasa) without [victim]'s consent orb) accomplished by physical force, intimidation, or deception; and
- 3) That such restraint was without legal authority;
- 4) That, with regard to elements (1), (2), and (3), the defendant acted knowingly; and
- 5) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 55-88 (Jury Instruction 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25).

A person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge with respect to a fact, circumstance, or result when he or she is aware of that fact, circumstance, or result. It is not necessary that the person know that the fact, circumstance, or result is defined by law as being unlawful or an element of a crime.

If a person has information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that a fact exists, the jury is permitted but not required to find that he or she acted with knowledge of that fact.

When acting knowingly as to a particular fact is required to establish an element of a crime, the element is also established if a person acts intentionally as to that fact.

CP 55-88 (Jury Instruction 8); see also RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b).

Here, defendant claims that the State did not provide sufficient evidence to prove that defendant knowingly restrained any person in the bank other than Ms. Flores. *See* Opening Brief of Appellant at 17-20.

Yet, taken in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence provides a reasonable inference that defendant was aware of the people in the bank, and that a reasonable person would have known that those people would not have felt free to leave when he started waving a gun.

According to the testimony of Anne Jones, a customer at the bank, when defendant pulled out a gun, he yelled, "you need to call the police." RP 194. Ms. Jones also testified that defendant was looking at her and the bank tellers when he was yelling. RP 195. Ms. Jones quickly left the bank, but on her way out, she saw other bank employees at their desks. RP 195. Ms. Jones' testimony is sufficient for the jury to conclude that defendant knew that the bank tellers were present.

Alyssa Luthor testified that she was with Hope Figueroa when Ms. Figueroa confronted defendant after his initial attack on Ms. Flores. RP 373, 375. Ms. Luthor testified that defendant told her to call the police and pointed the gun at her to indicate that he was talking to her. RP 375, 377. When defendant turned back to Ms. Flores, Ms. Luthor heard him say, "everybody get down." RP 380. Ms. Luthor's testimony supports a reasonable inference that defendant was aware of her presence, as well as the presence of other people when he said "everybody." Moreover, defendant's order for everybody to get down, while brandishing what appeared to be a firearm, certainly supports a reasonable inference that defendant was restraining "everybody" through intimidation.

Kelly Flynn was the bank employee who assisted defendant prior to the assault. RP 423. Despite her later movement to the bank's vault, defendant was aware of Ms. Flynn's presence within the bank prior to his display of the gun. It was reasonable to infer that defendant knew she was in the bank and that his actions would make her believe she was not free to leave.

Finally, defendant admitted setting up the meeting with Ms. Flores at the bank and that he went to the bank with what he intended everyone to believe was a gun. RP 619, 624. While he attempted to downplay his knowledge, he admitted that he intended for the police to kill him by the end of the encounter. RP 623, 627. It is reasonable to infer that defendant chose to go to a bank during normal business hours because he knew that bank employees and customers would be present and that the police would take his threats seriously.

Defendant went to a bank during normal business hours and was aware of the presence of bank employees and customers. He also intended for every person in the bank to believe he had a firearm. A reasonable person in defendant's position would have known that the bank's employees and customers would not have felt free to leave when an angry man began waving a gun around and ordered them to call the police.

c. The State presented sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that Ms. Flynn was under restraint.

In order for restraint to be substantial, there must be a real or material interference with another's liberty, not merely a petty annoyance, a slight inconvenience, or an imaginary conflict. *State v. Robinson*, 20 Wn. App. 882, 884, 582 P.2d 580 (1978) (finding that grabbing a girl by the arm and attempting to pull her into a car was sufficient restraint to constitute unlawful imprisonment), aff'd, 92 Wn.2d 357 (1979). The presence of a means of escape may help to defeat a prosecution for unlawful imprisonment unless "the known means of escape ... present[s] a danger or more than a mere inconvenience." *State v. Kinchen*, 92 Wn. App. 442, 452 n. 16, 963 P.2d 928 (1998).

In *Kinchen*, the court found that two children were not under restraint despite being left alone in an apartment where the boys could and did get out. 92 Wn. App. at 451-52. Conversely, the court has upheld an unlawful imprisonment conviction where the victim could move about an apartment but could not leave or get help because the defendant physically threatened the victim and her mother. *State v. Davis*, 133 Wn. App. 415, 425, 138 P.3d 132 (2006), *rev'd on other grounds*, 163 Wn.2d 606, 184 P.3d 639 (2008).

Here, defendant claims that Kelly Flynn was not restrained because she had a means of escape. However, Ms. Flynn testified that she did not use the back door out of the bank because the door makes a sound as it opens and she did not want to draw attention. RP 426-27. That one of her coworkers decided to take the risk associated with drawing the attention of an armed assailant does not negate the danger. Ms. Flynn's testimony was sufficient for the jury to find that she was under restraint.

d. The State presented sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that defendant was armed with a deadly weapon during the kidnapping of Ms. Flores.

For the purposes of a special verdict, a deadly weapon is "an implement or instrument which has the capacity to inflict death and from the manner in which it is used, is likely to produce or may easily and readily produce death." RCW 9.94A.825; see also CP 55-88 (Jury Instruction 28). "Relevant to this determination are the defendant's intent and present ability, the degree of force used, the part of the body to which the weapon was applied and the injuries inflicted." State v. Zumwalt, 79 Wn. App. 124, 130, 901 P.2d 319 (1995), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Bisson, 156 Wn.2d 507, 130 P.3d 820 (2006); see also CP 55-88 (Jury Instruction 28). Additionally, there must be a nexus between the weapon and the defendant, and between the weapon and the crime. State v. Schelin, 147 Wn.2d 562, 568, 55 P.3d 632 (2002).

Here, defendant had the present ability to use the box cutter during the course of the kidnapping. Defendant had already used the weapon during his assault of Ms. Flores when he held it to her neck and cut her. Despite dropping the box cutter in favor of the gun, defendant still had ready access to the weapon as it sat on a nearby chair. Defendant had already shown not only a willingness to use it but also how it could be used if Ms. Flores was uncooperative. This evidence established a nexus between defendant and the weapon, and also between the weapon and the crime.

Despite defendant's assertion that he was not armed with the box cutter, he cannot cite to any authority that a person is no longer armed with a deadly weapon merely because he puts the weapon down during the course of a crime. The evidence here was sufficient for the jury to find that defendant was armed with a deadly weapon during the commission of kidnapping.

2. AS THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE PRESENTED THAT DEFENDANT COMMITTED ANY OF HIS CRIMES AGAINST A MINOR, THE CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED TO CORRECT A SCRIVENER'S ERROR ON THE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE BUT REMAND FOR ENTRY OF A WRITTEN ORDER DOCUMENTING THE DISMISSAL OF SOME CHARGES IS UNWARRANTED BECAUSE A WRITTEN ORDER IS NOT REQUIRED.

A defendant may challenge an erroneous sentence for the first time on appeal. *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744, 193 P.3d 678 (2008).

a. <u>Defendant is entitled to remand for correction of a scrivener's error on the judgment and sentence.</u>

The remedy for a scrivener's error in a judgment and sentence is remand to the trial court for correction. *See State v. Naillieux*, 158 Wn. App. 630, 646, 241 P.3d 1280 (2010); CrR 7.8(a).

Here, the court checked a box on the judgment and sentence stating that the case involved a kidnapping or unlawful imprisonment where the victim was a minor. CP 132-146 There is no evidence in the record indicating that any minor was present. The case should be remanded to correct the judgment and sentence by striking the checkmark.

b. Because the judgment and sentence accurately reflects the jury's verdicts, remand for entry of written orders of dismissal is not necessary.

A trial court is not obliged to issue a written order when it orally dismisses one count in a multi-count information that results in conviction. *See State v. Davis*, 176 Wn. App. 849, 18-19, 315 P.3d 1105 (2013).

Defendant's judgment accurately reflected the outcome of his trial by showing the convictions and imposing sentence on Counts I, II, III, IV, VI, VII, IX, and XII. CP 132-146; *see Davis*, 176 Wn. App. at 18-19. Remand for the requested entry of a written notation in the judgment to document the oral dismissal of Count III is unwarranted. Moreover, although not required by law, a written record of that judicial act may be found in the verbatim report of proceedings. *See* RP 605, 613-14, 615.

Defendant's reliance on *State v. Moten*, 95 Wn. App. 927, 976
P.2d 1286 (1999), to support his request for remand is misplaced as that case addressed a scrivener's error. Defendant cites no relevant authority to support his contention that a court must enter a written order reflecting the dismissal of charges. *See Davis*, 176 Wn. App. at 18-19 (Appellate courts ordinarily do not address assertions unsupported by authority) (*citing State v. Young*, 90 Wn.2d 613, 625, 574 P.2d 1171 (1978); *State v. Selander*, 65 Wn. App. 134, 136, 827 P.2d 1090 (1992); *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004), *abrogated in part on other grounds by Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004); RAP 10.3(a)(6)).

#### D. CONCLUSION.

For the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests this Court to affirm defendant's convictions, but remand for correction of a scrivener's error on the judgment and sentence.